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Directors’ Report 
The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of Viper Aggregator Co. 

Limited and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the period 21 November 2024 to 31 December 2024.  

Ownership 

Viper Aggregator Co. Limited is owned and controlled by funds managed by APAX Partners. 

Apax Partners is a leading global Private Equity advisory firm. Over its more than 40-year history, Apax 

Partners has raised and advised funds with aggregate commitments of more than $60 billion. The Apax Funds 

invest in companies across four global sectors of Tech & Telco, Services, Healthcare and Consumer. These 

funds provide long-term equity financing to build and strengthen world-class companies. 

Principal activities  

The Group includes the operating entities, Dragon HoldCo, trading as Alcumus and Project Power, trading as 

Veriforce. 

Alcumus is a leading provider of supply chain compliance and business certification services, supported by 

advanced technology. Our mission is to use our expertise to simplify the world of compliance for all of our 

customers. We are building the tools, guidance and support that enable businesses of all sizes to prove they 

are safe and responsible today and prepared for the challenges of tomorrow.  

Veriforce is a leading provider of supply chain compliance services with a focus on high hazard industries and 

job sites. Veriforce provides software as a service to help hiring clients improve worker safety and reduce 

business risk by sourcing prequalified contractors, and  help contractors win more bids by showcasing their 

expertise, qualifications, and compliance.  

Financial Highlights 

2024 was the first year of Viper Aggregator Co. Limited operations as it came into existence by merging the 

Veriforce and Alcumus businesses on November 21, 2024. Revenue for the year ended was $28,571,427, 

generating a gross margin percentage of 79% and a gross margin of $22,636,966. 

Key performance indicators include group revenue, adjusted EBITDA, and revenue by market. These KPIs will 

be disclosed in 2025 once the group has had a full year of consolidated operations. 

Strategy 

The goal of the combined Veriforce and Alcumus entities is to bring workers home safely from high hazard 

jobs and to create a better working world by helping businesses turn compliance into competitive advantage.  

Veriforce has successfully traded for many years in North America with its software offerings for contractors 

and hiring clients with high hazard job sites. The strategy in North America is continued investment in the 

product platform and client offerings to drive organic growth. The entity is also continually evaluating 

inorganic growth options to increase it’s client offerings and contractor network. 

In Supply Chain Compliance, Alcumus has successfully traded for many years through the SafeContractor 

brand in the UK, and more recently in North America (particularly in Canada) through the ContractorCheck and 

Cognibox brands. Following significant investment in 2023, the legacy Alcumus brands in Canada were unified 

under the SafeContractor brand following a successful new product/brand launch in May 2024. The strategy 

in both Canada and the UK is to continue to capitalise on market tailwinds through organic and inorganic 

growth.  
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In Certification, Alcumus goes to market through the ISOQAR brand in the UK. The strategy for ISOQAR is 

again to continue to achieve scale through both organic and inorganic means, and M&A is likely to be a 

particularly important strategic driver for ISOQAR, both in the UK and further afield. 

Results and proposed dividends  

The total comprehensive loss for the financial period amounted to $22.9 million.  

No dividends were paid during the period. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend.  

The group was in compliance with all debt covenants for the year. See Footnote 23 for further information on 

the debt structure of the entity. 

Research and development  

Research and development (R&D) activities are to develop new products as well as enhance the technological 

excellence of existing products. Internally developed application software R&D is capitalised only if specific 

criteria (technical feasibility, completion intent, probable future benefits, measurable costs) are met; 

otherwise, it's expensed. Capitalised costs are reported as intangible assets. 

R&D activities accounting policy is shown in note 3.14. Capitalised R&D costs are recognised as intangibles 

(note 14).  

Directors  

The directors who held office during the period and subsequently, until the date of this report, were as follows:  

Chris Joseph Appointed 19 07 2025 

Thomas Crewe Appointed 09 10 2024 

Frank Ehmer Appointed 09 10 2024  

Colby Lane Appointed 21 11 2024 

Anders Meyerhoff Appointed 21 11 2024 

Charles Taylor Appointed 21 11 2024 

  

Financial risk management  

The execution of the Group’s strategy is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. In mitigation of all 

material risks, the Company keeps under continuous review the relevance of its products and services to the 

prevailing regulatory and commercial environments. Importantly, exposure to a worsening macroeconomic 

environment is mitigated through the group’s strategy of multi-year subscriptions and the collection of cash 

before rendering services to customers.  

Key specific risks to the group include:  

• Exchange Rate Risk  

The Group's significant non-USD revenue (59.7%, mainly GBP) is hedged by borrowing in GBP, mitigating 

exchange rate risk. 

• Liquidity Risk  

To maintain liquidity and to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and future 

developments, the Group operates a centralised treasury function, including intercompany cash pooling 
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and the provision of monthly cashflow reports and rolling 12-month forward forecasts to the Board. The 

Group currently has a healthy cash balance.  

• Business Change Risk  

In order to remain competitive and capitalise on the significant white space that exists in its core markets, 

the Company is investing significantly in its products, underpinned by technology. The Company has 

added additional leadership positions   and has established best practice governance surrounding change 

programmes.  

Going concern and future developments  

The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the directors consider to 

be appropriate for the following reasons.  

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have sufficient resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months from the date of 

approving these financial statements. The Directors have made this assessment on the basis of the current 

cash position, headroom against the single covenant associated with third-party debt, and medium-term cash 

flow forecasts. The Group’s position is strengthened by a very high level of recurring revenue (>90%), the 

majority of which originates from customers with annual evergreen subscriptions and multi-year contracts.  

As part of their going concern assessment, the directors have modelled severe but plausible downside 

scenarios including a drop off in both new business and renewals across all divisions of the Group. The 

forecasts indicate that, even after taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the Group will continue 

their positive EBITDA performance and generate positive operating cash flows in the going concern period. 

As a result, even in a plausible downside scenario the Group is expected to remain in full compliance with its 

loan covenants and to be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  

Based on the above, the directors are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient funds to meet their liabilities 

as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore 

have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

Environmental and People 

Sustainability 

The Group has an established sustainability programme (The Healthy People, Planet and Business 

Programme) which sets targets and ambitions for the business through to 2030 and aims to bring together 

existing initiatives and galvanise and inspire employees across three pillars social, environmental and 

economic. Employees across the business lead on local initiatives and are in the process of developing 

Community Impact Plans for each office (and one led by field based teams) to support development of the 

communities in which the business operates. 

As part of The Sustainability Program, the Group’s energy use across its offices is constantly monitored and 

tracked using internal ESG carbon accounting software to ensure compliance with carbon reduction targets. 

A number of energy saving, and renewable energy initiatives have and continue to be implemented including 

the installation of electric vehicle charging points, installation of LED luminaires to light fittings and initiatives 

to reduce emissions from business travel.  

Social 

Community engagement is a core part of the Group’s values and employee engagement strategy. As a 

successful, growing organisation, we believe strongly that we have a responsibility to improve the 

communities that we work in, and the world at large.  
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The Group has a number of initiatives that help drive and deliver community engagement. Chief among these 

are the provision of one day’s annual leave for all employees to use as a ‘giving day’ to support good causes 

in the local community.  Teams have volunteered at local schools, dog rescue centres, social community 

centres and cleared litter from local beaches.  

The Group engages in charity donations, often alongside employees. In the last 12 months, the Group has 

given meaningful donations for, amongst others, humanitarian efforts in Ukraine, to the charity Impetus, and 

to the Bookmark Reading charity, which helps children develop reading skills. The Group sponsors regular 

opportunities for giving including food and clothing drives to help the less fortunate. 

Alcumus takes its responsibilities to the environment incredibly seriously and has been ISO14001 

(Environmental Management Systems) certified for a number of years. We plant trees for every employee on 

their first anniversary of employment and at other key service milestones and run a number of initiatives that 

focus on reducing waste and cutting emissions. Examples of these include the installation of solar panels 

and electric charging points at Alcumus offices.     

Human Rights and Compliance 

As an organisation that helps our customers create a safer, more sustainable world, the Group remains 

vigilant to the blight of modern slavery and human trafficking and are committed to meeting our obligations 

under the Modern Slavery Act 2015. Whilst issues around human rights are not a material issue for the Group 

given the nature of our business, we take a zero-tolerance approach to non-ethical practices and are 

committed to acting professionally, fairly, and with integrity at all times. This applies not just to the Group 

internally, but to all of our business dealings and supply chain relationships, wherever we operate. We 

contractually require our business partners and suppliers to provide training to their employees and supply 

chain and we track our compliance with modern slavery obligations as part of our wider internal sustainability 

programme. The Group has policies and associated compliance training courses that confirm our governing 

principles for conduct, promote and reinforce our respectful and ethical culture, and inform employees of 

governing laws regarding anti-bribery in the US and abroad. 

As part of our commitments in this area, we have robust policies in place including:  

Modern Slavery Policy;  

Whistleblowing Policy;  

Respectful Workplace Policy; 

Code of Conduct Policy; and  

Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy.  

In addition, we provide a confidential reporting resources that employees can use to speak up about any acts 

that violate these policies.  Violations can be reported anonymously by using our EthicsPoint Hotline or online 

reporting form.   The Hotline is operated in partnership with NAVEX, an independent company, and allows 

employees to confidentially report concerns 24/7 either online or via a toll-free telephone number. The 

EthicsPoint Hotline is available anytime, from any location, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. 

People and Employee Engagement 

Building and maintaining a fantastic culture is one of management’s highest priorities. We strive to maximise 

engagement and promote opportunities for career progression, development and, perhaps above all else, 

personal and professional satisfaction.  

We believe that providing an excellent employee experience is the foundation of a business' success.  To 

support an excellent employee experience, we are proud of our history of administering and programmatically 
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responding to an Employer Net Promoter Score twice per year.   We share the results with employees, and our 

People Team conduct focus groups and trainings to better understand the themes provide in the qualitative 

responses so that we can continue to do "What's Going Great" and proactively address "What Could Be Better." 

This score is one of our non-financial KPIs and will be disclosed in 2025 after a full year of combined 

operations. 

Staff welfare is a vital part of the Group’s employee engagement strategy. In consultation with employees, the 

Group has introduced a hybrid working policy to encourage flexible and inclusive working patterns. Mental 

health is always high on the agenda, with the business having 50 trained Mental Health First Aiders. For 

employees encountering financial difficulties, a financial assistance programme is offered, alongside 

healthcare programmes and wellbeing options to support physical and mental good health.  

We also have a strong Wellness program, encouraging our remote employees to observe Mental Health 

Month, walking and fitness challenges, and to engage with one another across more than 20 Special Interest 

Group channels in Teams, where employees can come together across teams, levels and borders to discuss 

parenting toddlers, teens and pets, discuss books, television series, and movies, share recipes, travel plans, 

as well as their passion for golf, cycling, and sports fandom. 

Gender Diversity 

At Viper Aggregator, we put our people at the heart of everything we do, delivering our people strategy with 

the ultimate aim of making the Group a great place to work for everyone, irrespective of gender. The Group’s 

Board and Senior Management Team are committed to constantly improving the gender balance across all 

levels in our business. 

We support equality through equal pay and are confident that men and women are paid equally for doing the 

same roles in Alcumus. 

The number of employees by gender as at 31 December 2024 was as follows:  

  Male No. Male % 
Female 

No. 
Female % Undisclosed No. Undisclosed % Total No. Total % 

Directors 5 0.38% 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 5 0.38% 

Senior 
Leadership 

6 0.45% 4 0.30% 0 0.00% 10 0.76% 

Employees 612 46.29% 601 45.46% 94 7.11% 1307 98.86% 

Total 623 47.13% 605 45.76% 94 7.11% 1322 100.0% 

 

Employees  

The Group recognises the benefit of keeping employees informed of the progress of the business and of 

involving them in the company’s performance and, accordingly, maintains regular communications with 

employees and has well established consultation arrangements.  

Disabled employees  

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the 

requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled by a disabled person.  

Where existing employees become disabled, it is the company’s policy wherever practicable to provide 

continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career development 

and promotion wherever appropriate. 
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Qualifying third party indemnity provisions  

Professional indemnity cover for the purpose of The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 has been taken out 

with a reputable insurance broker and has been in place throughout the year and up to the date of signing 

these financial statements.  

Directors’ responsibilities statement 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

- state whether they have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB); 

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Group will continue in business for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these 

financial statements. 

The Directors confirm that:  

- so far as each of the Directors is aware there is no relevant audit information of which the Group's auditor 

is unaware; and  

- the Directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make themselves 

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditor is aware of that 

information. 

Auditor  

Grant Thornton UK LLP was appointed as non-statutory auditor during the period. Pursuant to Section 257 of 

The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed, and Grant Thornton UK 

LLP will therefore continue in office. 

Walker Guidelines 

In the view of the Directors, this Annual Report and consolidated financial statements comply with all aspects 

of the Walker Guidelines for Disclosure and Transparency in Private Equity 

 

 

Colby Lane  

Director 

Viper Aggregator Co. Ltd  

East Wing, Trafalgar Court, Les Banques, St Peter 

Port 

PO Box 656 

Guernsey 

GY1 3PP 

United Kingdom 

30 September 2025
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Independent auditor's report to the directors of Viper Aggregator Co. 

Limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements of Viper Aggregator Co. Limited (the “group”) for the 
period from 22 November 2024 to 31 December 2024 , which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position, the consolidated statement of total comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, the consolidated statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including 
material accounting policy information. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2024 and of the group’s 
loss for the period then ended; and 

• are in accordance with IFRSs as issued by the IASB. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the 

group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 

the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated with the  group’s 
business model including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as inflationary pressures, 
we assessed and challenged the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors and the related 
disclosures and analysed how those risks might affect the group’s financial resources or ability to continue 
operations over the going concern period.   

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in 
the relevant sections of this report. 
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Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained 
within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of directors  

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 8, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. The extent to which 
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:  

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks applicable to the group company 
and determined that the following laws and regulations were most significant: the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 
relevant tax regulations in the UK considering that the group is considered to be a UK tax resident. We 
obtained an understanding of how the Group are complying with significant legal and regulatory 
frameworks through our general and commercial sector experience, discussions with management, 
inspection of key internal records as well as legal correspondence. We obtained an understanding of how 
the Group are complying with those legal and regulatory frameworks by making inquiries of management 
and of those responsible for legal and compliance procedures. We corroborated our inquiries through 
inquiries with those charged with the governance;  

• We assessed the susceptibility of the Group financial statements to material misstatement, including how 
fraud might occur. We considered the opportunity and incentives for management to perpetrate fraud, and 
the potential impact on the financial statements. We also considered performance targets and their 
propensity to influence efforts made by management to manage earnings. We considered the processes 
and controls that the Group have established to address risks identified, or that otherwise prevent, deter, 
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and detect fraud, and on how senior management monitors those programs and controls. Where the risk 
was considered to be higher, we performed audit procedures to address each identified fraud risk; 

• Our audit procedures involved: journal entry testing with a focus on manual consolidation journals and 
journals indicating large or unusual transactions based on our understanding of the business; and 
substantive procedures to assess the reasonableness of the acquisition accounting relevant to the 
transaction entered into during the period. In addition, we completed audit procedures to conclude on the 
compliance disclosures of the financial statements with the applicable financial reporting requirements; 

• These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were 
free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk 
of not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is inherently 
more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate 
concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with 
laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely 
we would become aware of it; 

• The engagement partner’s assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and 
capabilities of the engagement team included consideration of the engagement team’s: 

- Understanding of, and practical experience with, audit engagement of similar nature and complexity, 
through appropriate training and participation; and 

- Knowledge of the industry in which the Group operates. 

• We communicated relevant laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team 
members, including internal specialists, and remained alert to any indicators of fraud or non-compliance 
with laws and regulations throughout the audit. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s directors, as a body, in accordance with our engagement letter 

dated 18 August 2025. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s directors 

those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 

extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 

company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

Cardiff 

30 September 2025

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Consolidated Statement of Total Comprehensive Income 

For the period between 21 November 2024 to 31 December 2024 
(in USD '000s) 

 
Note 

For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Revenue 5 28,571 

Cost of sales  (5,934) 

Gross profit  22,637 

Administrative expenses  (69,786) 

Finance income 9 46 

Other gains and losses 10 7,024 

Finance costs 11 (12,477) 

Loss before tax  (52,556) 

Income tax 12 10,067 

Loss for the period  (42,489) 

Other comprehensive income     

Foreign exchange gain on translation of the net assets of foreign currency denominated 
entities 

 19,566 

Total comprehensive Loss  (22,923) 

 

 

 

Colby Lane  

Director 

Company registered number: CMP74403
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Consolidated statement of financial position 

As at 31 December 2024 

(in USD '000s) 

 Note 31 December 2024 

Non-current assets   

Goodwill 13 2,183,677  

Intangible assets 14 1,020,922 

Property, plant and equipment 15 7,719 

Right-of-use assets  16 8,465 

Derivative financial assets 18 2,452 

Deferred tax asset  - 

Other non-current assets 22 1,591 

Total non-current assets  3,224,826 

Current assets   

Trade receivables 21 14,418 

Other receivables 22 9,624 

Contract assets 22 2,631 

Derivative financial assets 18 775 

Current tax receivable  5,122     

Restricted Cash   226 

Cash and bank balances  87,305 

Total current assets  120,101 

Total assets  3,344,927 
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 Note 31 December 2024 

Equity and liabilities   

Issued share capital 27 190 

Share premium  1,898,908 

Retained earnings  (42,489)  

Share based payment reserve 31 838 

Foreign currency translation reserve  28 19,566  

Total equity  1,877,013 

Non-current liabilities   

Borrowings 23 1,129,724 

Lease liabilities 25 7,421 

Provisions 18 72 

Deferred income 5 6,746 

Other non-current liabilities 26 86 

Deferred tax liability 24 181,393 

Total non-current liabilities  1,325,442 

Current liabilities   

Borrowings 23 19,931 

Trade payables 26 3,528 

Lease liabilities 25 3,123 

Deferred income 5 94,117 

Other current liabilities 26 21,773 

Total current liabilities  142,472 

Total liabilities  1,467,914 

Total equity and liabilities  3,344,927 

 

 

These financial statements were approved by the board of Directors on 30 September 2025 and were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

Colby Lane  

Director 

Company registered number: CMP74403



Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

15 

Commercial in Confidence 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

For the period ended 31 December 2024 
(in USD '000s) 

 Share capital Share premium Retained Earnings 
Foreign exchange translation 

reserve 
Share-based payments 

reserve Total 

Balance at 21 November 2024 - - - - - - 

Issue of share capital 190 1,898,908 - - - 1,899,098 

Loss for the year - - (42,489) - - (42,489)  

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 19,566  - 19,566  

Equity settled share- based payments - - - - 838 838 

Balance at 31 December 2024 190 1,898,908 (42,489)  19,566  838 1,877,013 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

For the period ended 31 December 2024 

(in USD '000s) 

 
Note 

21 November 2024 to  
31 December 2024 

Loss for the year  (42,489) 

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 15 172 

Depreciation on Right of use assets 16 336 

Amortisation of intangible assets 14 10,186 

Allowance for doubtful debts 6 181 

Finance costs 11 12,477 

Finance income 9 (46) 

Other gains and losses  (3,227) 

Income tax 12 (10,067) 

Share-based payment expense 31 838 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital  (31,639) 

Decrease in trade receivables  15,295 

Decrease in other receivables  3,321 

(Increase) in contract assets  (691) 

(Increase) in other assets  (960) 

(Decrease) in trade payables  (7,975) 

Increase in other payables  5,625 

(Decrease) in deferred income  (12,064) 

(Decrease) in other liabilities  (8,784) 

(Decrease) in provisions 29 (318) 

Cash generated by operations  (38,190) 

Income taxes paid  (3,105)  

Net cash (used in) operating activities  (41,295) 

Investing activities   

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 29 (2,085,734) 

Acquisition of intangible assets 14 (1,108) 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 15 (304) 
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Note 

21 November 2024 to  
31 December 2024 

Interest received 9 46 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (2,087,100) 

Financing activities   

Issue of share capital  1,058,654 

Interest paid  (4,057) 

Proceeds from loans and borrowings  1,141,277 

Net cash from financing activities  2,195,874 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  67,479 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  - 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  20,052 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  87,531 

 

 

 

 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

18 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the period ended 31 December 2024 

(in USD '000s) 

Notes to the financial statements 

1. General information 

Viper Aggregator Co. Limited (the "Company") is a company limited by shares, incorporated under the 

Companies (Guernsey) law, 2008 on 21 November 2024 and is registered in Guernsey under registration 

number CMP74403. The Company's registered office address is PO Box 656, East Wing Trafalgar Court Les 

Banques, St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3PP. 

On 21 November 2024, the Company acquired 100% ownership of Dragon HoldCo (Guernsey) Limited 

("Dragon HoldCo") and Project Power Intermediate Holdings, LLC ("Project Power") (together with their 

subsidiaries referred to as “the Group”). 

Dragon HoldCo, trading as Alcumus, is a leading provider of supply chain compliance and business 

certification services, supported by advanced technology. Dragon HoldCo is headquartered in United Kingdom 

with operations spread across United Kingdom, Europe and Canada. 

Project Power, trading as Veriforce, ComplyWorks, and CHAS 2013 Ltd, provides an online platform for 

contractors and operators to report and track safety data and delivers standardized safety and skills training 

across various industries, including oil and gas. Project Power is headquartered in United States with 

operations spread across United States, United Kingdom and Canada. 

The presentation currency is United States Dollar ($). All amounts are rounded to the nearest $1,000. 

2. Adoption of new and revised Standard 

2.1 New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and 

revised IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability Effective from 1 January 2025 

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in 
Financial Statements 

Effective from 1 January 2027 

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 
Accountability: Disclosures 

Effective from 1 January 2027 

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the 

financial statements of the Group in future periods, except if indicated below. 

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates titled Lack of 

Exchangeability 

The amendments specify how to assess whether a currency is exchangeable, and how to determine the 

exchange rate when it is not. 

A currency is exchangeable into another currency when an entity is able to obtain the other currency within a 

time frame that allows for a normal administrative delay and through a market or exchange mechanism in 

which an exchange transaction would create enforceable rights and obligations. An entity assesses whether 

a currency is exchangeable into another currency at a measurement date and for a specified purpose. 
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The assessment of whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency depends on an entity’s ability 

to obtain the other currency and not on its intention or decision to do so. 

When a currency is not exchangeable into another currency at a measurement date, an entity is required to 

estimate the spot exchange rate at that date. An entity’s objective in estimating the spot exchange rate is to 

reflect the rate at which an orderly exchange transaction would take place at the measurement date between 

market participants under prevailing economic conditions. 

The amendments do not specify how an entity estimates the spot exchange rate to meet that objective. An 

entity can use an observable exchange rate without adjustment or another estimation technique. Examples 

of an observable exchange rate include: 

• a spot exchange rate for a purpose other than that for which an entity assesses exchangeability 

• the first exchange rate at which an entity is able to obtain the other currency for the specified purpose 

after exchangeability of the currency is restored (first subsequent exchange rate). 

An entity using another estimation technique may use any observable exchange rate—including rates from 

exchange transactions in markets or exchange mechanisms that do not create enforceable rights and 

obligations—and adjust that rate, as necessary, to meet the objective as set out above. 

When an entity estimates a spot exchange rate because a currency is not exchangeable into another currency, 

the entity is required to disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to understand how 

the currency not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is expected to affect, the entity’s 

financial performance, financial position and cash flows. 

The amendments add a new appendix as an integral part of IAS 21. The appendix includes application 

guidance on the requirements introduced by the amendments. The amendments also add new Illustrative 

Examples accompanying IAS 21, which illustrate how an entity might apply some of the requirements in 

hypothetical situations based on the limited facts presented. 

In addition, the IASB made consequential amendments to IFRS 1 to align with and refer to the revised IAS 21 

for assessing exchangeability. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025, with earlier 

application permitted. An entity is not permitted to apply the amendments retrospectively. Instead, an entity 

is required to apply the specific transition provisions included in the amendments. 

The directors of the company anticipate that the application of these amendments may not have an impact 

on the group's consolidated financial statements in future periods. 

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements 

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1, carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1 unchanged and complementing 

them with new requirements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. 

Furthermore, the IASB has made minor amendments to IAS 7 and IAS 33 Earnings per Share. 

IFRS 18 introduces new requirements to: 

• present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss 

• provide disclosures on management-defined performance measures (MPMs) in the notes to the financial 

statements 

• improve aggregation and disaggregation. 

An entity is required to apply IFRS 18 for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with 

earlier application permitted. The amendments to IAS 7 and IAS 33, as well as the revised IAS 8 and IFRS 7, 
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become effective when an entity applies IFRS 18. IFRS 18 requires retrospective application with specific 

transition provisions. 

The directors of the company anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an impact on 

the Group's consolidated financial statements in future periods. 

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 

IFRS 19 permits an eligible subsidiary to provide reduced disclosures when applying IFRS Accounting 

Standards in its financial statements. 

A subsidiary is eligible for the reduced disclosures if it does not have public accountability and its ultimate or 

any intermediate parent produces consolidated financial statements available for public use that comply with 

IFRS Accounting Standards. 

IFRS 19 is optional for subsidiaries that are eligible and sets out the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries 

that elect to apply it. 

An entity is only permitted to apply IFRS 19 if, at the end of the reporting period: 

• it is a subsidiary (this includes an intermediate parent) 

• it does not have public accountability, and 

• its ultimate or any intermediate parent produces consolidated financial statements available for public 

use that comply with IFRS Accounting Standards. 

A subsidiary has public accountability if: 

• its debt or equity instruments are traded in a public market or it is in the process of issuing such 

instruments for trading in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter 

market, including local and regional markets), or 

• it holds assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders as one of its primary businesses (for 

example, banks, credit unions, insurance entities, securities brokers/dealers, mutual funds and investment 

banks often meet this second criterion). 

Eligible entities can apply IFRS 19 in their consolidated, separate or individual financial statements. An eligible 

intermediate parent that does not apply IFRS 19 in its consolidated financial statement may do so in its 

separate financial statements. 

The new standard is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier 

application permitted. If an entity elects to apply IFRS 19 for a reporting period earlier than the reporting period 

in which it first applies IFRS 18, it is required to apply a modified set of disclosure requirements set out in an 

appendix to IFRS 19. If an entity elects to apply IFRS 19 for an annual reporting period before it applied the 

amendments to IAS 21, it is not required to apply the disclosure requirements in IFRS 19 with regard to Lack 

of Exchangeability. 

The directors of the company do not anticipate that IFRS 19 will be applied for purposes of the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group. 

3. Accounting policies 

3.1 Basis of accounting 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
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3.2 Going concern 

The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the directors consider to 

be appropriate for the following reasons.  

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have sufficient resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months from the date of 

approving these financial statements. The Directors have made this assessment on the basis of the current 

cash position, headroom against the single covenant associated with third-party debt, and medium-term cash 

flow forecasts. The Group’s position is strengthened by a very high level of recurring revenue (>90%), the 

majority of which originates from customers with annual evergreen subscriptions and multi-year contracts.  

As part of their going concern assessment, the directors have modelled severe but plausible downside 

scenarios including a drop off in both new business and renewals across all divisions of the Group. The 

forecasts indicate that, even after taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the Group will continue 

their positive EBITDA performance and generate positive operating cash flows in the going concern period. 

As a result, even in a plausible downside scenario the Group is expected to remain in full compliance with its 

loan covenants and to be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  

Based on the above, the directors are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient funds to meet their liabilities 

as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore 

have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

3.3 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 

controlled by the Company made up to 31 December 2024. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 

of acquisition.  

Control is achieved when the Company: 

• Has the power over the investee;  

• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and  

• Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 

the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 

during the year are included in profit or loss from the date the Company gains control until the date when the 

Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

All intra-group balances, transactions, revenues and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 

intra-group transactions are fully eliminated.  

The Company owns 100% shares of all its subsidiaries, therefore, it does not account for non-controlling 

interests in the consolidated financial statements. 

Under Section 244(5) of the Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008, the Company is exempt from the requirement 

to present the standalone financial statements. 

3.4 Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
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measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 

assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-

financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the 

asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 

highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 

are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 

of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows (based on the significance of the input to the 

fair value measurement as a whole): 

• Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 

• Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs). For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a 

recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 

re-assessing categorisation at the end of each reporting period. 

3.5 Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 

measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at the acquisition date fair 

value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the 

Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the 

proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the 

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree, and the equity interest issued by the Group. Any 

contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Subsequent changes to the contingent consideration that is not classified as equity is recognised in the 

consolidated income statement.  

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 

relevant conditions as at the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and included 

in other operating expenses, with the exception of the costs to issue debt or equity securities. 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 

the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is 

incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted for additional information obtained during the 

“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and 

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised 

at the date. 

3.6 Goodwill 

The excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling 

interests and the acquisition fair value of previous equity interest over the identifiable assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as goodwill. If this consideration is lower 
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than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in the consolidated 

income statement as a bargain purchase.  

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment 

testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) expected to benefit from 

the synergies of the combination. The Group has two CGUs, Dragon HoldCo and subsidiaries and Project 

Power and subsidiaries, goodwill arising from the respective business acquisition is allocated to each of these 

CGU.  

Cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 

frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce 

the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on 

the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 

reversed in a subsequent period. The Group performs the annual impairment testing as at 31 December each 

year.  

3.7 Revenue recognition  

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the group expects to be entitled in a contract with 

a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The group recognises revenue when it 

transfers control of a product or service to a customer.  

The Group recognises revenue from the four main revenue streams: 

1. Core accreditation services – Core accreditation services are provided to assist customers in managing 

supply chain risk and compliance, including various accreditations using a contractor management 

system. Upon successful completion of the accreditation process, the relevant accreditation certificate is 

issued which is valid for 12 months. This service is primarily delivered through established brands: Safe 

Contractor (UK), Contractor Check (Canada), and Cognibox (Canada). Revenue for accreditation services 

is recognized at a point in time when the accreditation certificate is issued. 

2. ISO certification services – ISO certification services are provided from the ISOQAR brand to businesses, 

ensuring compliance with internationally recognized standards such as quality management, health and 

safety, information security, and sustainability. Certification services are delivered through multi-year 

contracts (typically 1-3 years) involving an initial comprehensive audit and subsequent annual surveillance 

audits to maintain certification validity. Revenue is initially recognized as deferred income and 

subsequently recognized over time based on input method i.e., the entity’s efforts or inputs to the 

satisfaction of a performance obligation specifically upon delivering planning/audit stage as the service 

is delivered.  

The transaction price is allocated to the distinct performance obligations (initial audit, surveillance audits) 

within the contract based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. Pricing is determined on a bespoke 

basis, considering factors like the specific certification standard, audit complexity, client location, and 

estimated audit days. 

3. Cloud based subscription Services – Cloud-based subscription revenues is generated from non-

cancellable software-as-a-service ("SaaS") subscriptions, representing a performance obligation of 

distinct services. The Group recognises revenue over the contract term on a straight-line basis, beginning 

on the contract start date. 

Variable consideration – Revenue from subscriptions with variable consideration is generally recognized 

monthly as services are provided. However, if monthly allocation is not representative of the performance 
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obligation, the total estimated variable consideration is recognized rateably over the contract term using 

the expected value method. This estimate is updated each reporting period. 

The Company exercises judgment in estimating variable consideration, considering factors such as the 

likelihood and magnitude of potential adjustments and revenue reversals. Where significant uncertainty 

exists due to external economic factors, the variable consideration included in the transaction price is 

constrained to ensure a significant revenue reversal is improbable. 

4. Training – The Group provides training services, including instructor-led training as part of an authorized 

industry instructor training program, and a subscription service allowing instructors to use the "Authorized 

Veriforce Safety Instructor" title. 

a) Instructor fee (subscription) – Revenue from the instructor subscription service, which grants 

instructors the right to use the authorized title, is recognized over the contract term on a straight-line 

basis. Recognition commences on the contract start date. 

b) Learning content and training material – Revenue from training courses to become an authorized 

Veriforce instructor is recognized at a point in time when the training is delivered and the customer 

obtains the related benefits. 

3.8 Leases 

The Group as a lessee 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group 

recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in 

which it is the lessee, other than short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of 

low-value assets with a purchase price under $5,000. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease 

payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another 

systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 

assets are consumed. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 

determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.   

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:  

• Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;  

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

commencement date;  

• The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;  

• The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and  

• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 

terminate the lease.  

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.  

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 

liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 

payments made. 

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 

asset) whenever:  
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• The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a 

change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured 

by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.  

• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 

guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 

payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a 

floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).  

• A lease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which 

case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the 

revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.  

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the period presented.  

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 

made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. 

They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site 

on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of 

the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-

of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset.  

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right of-use 

asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that 

the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful 

life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.  

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.  

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified 

impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, plant and equipment’ policy.  

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account 

for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has used this 

practical expedient. 

3.9 Foreign currency translation 

The individual financial statements for the foreign subsidiaries of the Company are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which they operate (the “functional currency”) which 

includes US dollars, Canadian dollars and British pounds. The consolidated financial statements of the Group 

are presented in U.S. dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 

In preparing the financial statements of the Company, transactions in currencies other than the Company’s 

functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the 

transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that 

are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value 

was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

not retranslated. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the profit and loss 

account.  

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s 

foreign subsidiaries are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income and expense 
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items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate 

significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. 

Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a 

foreign exchange translation reserve. 

3.10 Retirement and termination costs  

The Company operates a defined contribution plan for the benefit of its employees. Under the terms of the 

plan, the Company is obligated to make fixed contributions to a separate entity. The Company has no legal or 

constructive obligation to make further contributions beyond these fixed amounts. 

Contributions to the defined contribution plan are recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss in the periods during which the related employee services are rendered. 

The expense recognised for the defined contribution plan is equal to the contributions payable to the plan 

during the reporting period. 

3.11 Short-term and other long-term employee benefits 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and 

sick leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected 

to be paid in exchange for that service. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount 

of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of 

the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the group in respect of services provided by 

employees up to the reporting date. 

3.12 Taxation  

The income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense. Current and deferred 

tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from 

the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 

combination. 

Current Tax 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 

reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in 

other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current 

tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 

period. 

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considered 

probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the 

best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of tax 

professionals within the Group supported by previous experience in respect of such activities and in certain 

cases based on specialist independent tax advice. 
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Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 

taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised 

for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 

assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other 

than in a business combination or for transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 

differences) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 

accounting profit. In addition, a deferred tax liability is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 

the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 

except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 

temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that 

it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary 

differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 

recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 

or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date. 

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 

the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 

amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 

and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

3.13 Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. The purchase cost is the cost actually incurred to purchase the asset and includes the 

related transaction costs.  

Property, plant and equipment acquired in business combinations are recognized at fair value on the 

acquisition date and the fair value is deemed to be the purchase cost of those assets. 

Ordinary maintenance costs related to recurring maintenance and repairs to keep assets in good working 

order to ensure their expected useful life, capacity and original productivity, are expensed when incurred. 

Extraordinary maintenance costs incurred to expand, modernise, replace or improve an asset are capitalised 

within the limits of its recoverable amount if they result in a significant and measurable increase in its 

production capacity, safety or useful life. 

Where parts of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 

items of property, plant and equipment, for example land is treated separately from buildings. 
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Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each item of the related 

assets. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. Land is not 

depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Freehold property 50 years 

Furniture and fixtures  5-9 years 

Computer equipment 3 years 

Motor vehicles 4 years 

Freehold improvements 5 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed if there is an indication of a significant 

change since the last annual reporting date in the pattern by which the company expects to consume an 

asset’s future economic benefits. 

The company assesses at each reporting date whether an item of property, plant and equipment including 

those leased are impaired. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 

are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or 

retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount 

of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 

3.14 Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure  

The Group capitalises certain development costs incurred in connection with internally developed application 

software, which is utilised by its customers. Expenditure on development activities are capitalised if the 

application software under development is technically and commercially feasible, the Group intends and has 

the technical ability and sufficient resources to complete the development, future economic benefits are 

probable and if the Group can measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development. Development activities involve design for, construction or testing of the production of new or 

substantially improved application software. The expenditure capitalised includes the internal and external 

costs incurred, if direct and incremental, until the application software is substantially complete and ready for 

its intended use. Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development, prior to technological feasibility 

being established and other development expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an expense 

as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less 

accumulated impairment losses.  

Capitalised software is being amortised using straight line method over the estimated useful life of the 

software, which is typically 2-3 years. This represents the Group's best estimate of the period over which the 

software is expected to generate economic benefits. 

3.15 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 

The Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and identifiable separately from goodwill are 

recognised initially at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Intangible assets 

acquired in business combinations from 21 November 2024 to 31 December 2024 comprise of brands, 

customer relationships and technology. 
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Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and 

accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Customer relationships 8-14 years 

Brand  10 years 

Technology 5 years 

 

The above useful lives are prudent estimates balancing realistic expectations of value with duration of 

economic benefits. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

3.16 Derecognition of intangible assets 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use 

or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when 

the asset is derecognised. 

3.17 Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets excluding goodwill 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 

loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent 

of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other 

assets, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 

to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 

units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there 

is an indication at the end of a reporting period that the asset may be impaired. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 

the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 

is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been recognised 

for the asset in prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount is treated as a revaluation increase. 
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3.18 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the Company's cash management are included as a component of cash 

and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.  

The Company's restricted cash consists of cash that is contractually obligated to be maintained to guarantee 

the payment of corporate credit cards issued. This cash serves as a backstop against potential defaults on 

these credit cards. The restricted cash is presented separately from cash and cash equivalents on the balance 

sheet but is included in the total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash amount presented on the 

statement of cash flows. 

3.19 Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when 

the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 

and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 

financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.  

Financial assets  

Financial assets primarily include trade receivables, derivative financial instruments, accrued income and 

cash and cash equivalents. 

Financial liabilities primarily consist of debt, derivative financial instruments, accrued expenses and deferred 

income, trade payables and other liabilities. 

Classification and measurement 

The classification of a financial asset is dependent on the Group’s business model for managing such 

financial assets and their contractual cash flows. The Group considers whether the contractual cash flows 

represent solely payments of principal and interest that are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. 

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending 

arrangement, the related financial assets are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss 

(“FVTPL”). Where the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is both collecting 

contractual assets and selling the financial asset, and the cash flows are solely payments of principal and 

interest, the related financial assets are classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income (“FVOCI”) 
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Financial asset cash flow business model Initial measurement1 Measurement category2 

Solely to collect the contractual cash flows  
(Held to Collect)  

Fair Value including 
transaction costs 

Amortised Cost 

Collect both the contractual cash flows and 
generate cash flows arising from the sale of 
assets (Held to Collect and Sell) 

Fair Value including 
transaction costs 

FVOCI 

Generate cash flows primarily from the sale of 
assets (Held to Sell) 

Fair Value FVTPL 

 

Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model in which financial assets are held include: 

• past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected;  

• the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales 

and future sales activity expectations; and 

• how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key the Group personnel. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its 

business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on 

the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and on hand. Cash and cash equivalents are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value and are measured at amortised cost. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group’s credit risk is related to trade receivables arising from provision of services, for which the Group 

is mostly exposed to the direct risk of counterparty default. These risks are mitigated by the fact that 

collection exposure is spread across a large number of counterparties.  

The IFRS 9 impairment requirements are based on a forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. ECL 

is a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of cash shortfalls. The Group applies the simplified 

impairment model to its trade receivables as set out in IFRS 9. Impairment losses on financial assets are 

recognised in profit and loss. 

The simplified approach for determining the lifetime ECL allowance involves a process where all trade 

receivables that are in default are individually assessed for impairment and provided for.  

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognises financial assets when the contractual rights to the cash flows arising from the asset 

are no longer held or if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 

to another entity. On derecognition of financial assets, the difference between the carrying amount of the 

asset and the consideration received or receivable for the transfer of the asset is recognised in profit or loss. 

  

 
1 A trade receivable without a significant financing component, as defined by IFRS 15, is initially measured at the transaction price. 
2 On initial recognition, the group may irrevocably designate a financial asset at FVTPL that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 
amortised cost or at FVOCI if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
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Financial liabilities and equity 

Classification as debt or equity  

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 

substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.  

Equity instruments  

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 

all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of 

direct issue costs. Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in 

equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s 

own equity instruments. 

Financial liabilities  

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at 

FVTPL. However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for 

derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued 

by the Group, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below. 

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an 

acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.  

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if either:  

• It has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term;  

• On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or  

• It is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective 

hedging instrument.  

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair 

value recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest 

paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘Other gains and losses’ line item in profit or loss.  

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost  

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held 

for trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 

allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral 

part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected 

life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities  

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled, or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 

and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.  
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When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the 

substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial 

liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial 

modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability 

and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted 

present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and 

discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value 

of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the modification is not substantial, the 

difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the present value 

of the cash flows after modification is recognised in profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within ‘Other 

gains and losses’. 

Derivative financial instruments 

The Group utilizes interest rate cap instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

These derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in 

profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which 

event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. 

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative 

fair value is recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the 

Group has both a legally enforceable right and intention to offset. A derivative is presented as a non-current 

asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not 

due to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current 

liabilities. 

3.20 Provisions  

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that the group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 

of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 

amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 

third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 

and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of its 

subsidiaries, the company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability in its individual financial 

statements until such time as it becomes probable that the company will be required to make a payment 

under the guarantee. 

3.21 Share-based payments 

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments 

at the grant date. The fair value excludes the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. Details regarding 

the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 31. 
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The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 

straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments 

that will eventually vest. At each reporting date, the group revises its estimate of the number of equity 

instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of 

the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense 

reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to reserves. 

The group only entered into shared based payment transaction with employees. 

4. Critical accounting judgements  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenue, costs, assets and liabilities and the related 

disclosures. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 

expectations of future events that are considered reasonable in the circumstances. Actual results may differ 

from those estimated. The judgements made by management may or may not also require the use of 

assumptions and other sources of estimation uncertainty. All judgements that management consider have 

the most significant effect on the financial statements are discussed below. 

Critical accounting judgements 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are presented 

separately below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies 

and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements. 

Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The identifiable assets acquired, 

and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date. In estimating the fair value 

of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 

inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. Management 

works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs 

to the model.  

Research and development expenses 

The Group recognises internally generated intangible assets arising from the development of application 

software. The amount recognised on the balance sheet for internally generated intangible assets is the sum 

of the expenditure incurred, mainly consisting of the payroll expenses of the staff working on the development 

project. The Group applies judgement in determining the point in time when the intangible asset first meets 

the recognition criteria required under IFRS.   

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The company does not have any key assumptions concerning the future, or other key sources of estimation 

uncertainty in the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.  

Testing long lived assets for impairment  

Management have performed a goodwill impairment assessment for the period between 21 November 2024 

(the date goodwill has been recognised) and 31 December 2024 using fair value considerations. Under this 

approach, the trading performance of the acquired businesses post 21 November 2024 is reviewed against 

the business models used for the valuation of the intangible assets and goodwill. Given the arm's length 

nature of the business acquisitions and the alignment of post-acquisition performance with the acquisition 

business model, management have concluded that the fair value less costs to sell exceeded the carrying 
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amount of goodwill and intangible assets as at 31 December 2024. As a result no impairment charges have 

been recognised in the consolidated financial statements for the period ending 31 December 2024.  

5. Revenue  

Analysis of revenue by class of business and by timing of revenue recognition is as follows -  

 For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Accreditation services / Cloud based subscription revenue 23,414 

Certification services 4,298 

Training  859 

 28,571 

 

 For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Point in time 10,782 

Over time 17,789 

 28,571 

The total transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations at 31 December 2024 is $100.8 

million.  

Management expects that 93.3% of the total transaction price allocated to the remaining performance 

obligations as of December 31, 2024 will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting period $94 

million. The remaining 6.7%, $6.8 million will be recognised in the 2026 financial year. 
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6. Profit/(Loss) for the year 

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging: 

 For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Research and development costs 334 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 172 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 336 

Amortisation on intangible assets 10,186 

Loss allowance on trade receivables 181 

Staff cost 17,505 

Marketing expense 349 

Transaction cost on acquisition of subsidiaries 35,052 

Other expenses 8,643 

Low value and short-term lease expense 7 

Restructuring and other non-operating costs* 2,599 

Management costs 19 

  

Auditor’s remuneration:  

Fees payable to the Group’s auditor for the audit of the Group’s 
financial statements 

305 

Fees payable to the Group’s auditor for the audit of the Group’s 
subsidiaries ** 

218 

Tax compliance services relating to the Group 90 

Tax compliance services relating to the Group’s subsidiaries ** 152 

Tax advisory services relating to the Group  13 

  

 76,161 

*Restructuring and other non-operating costs reflect corporate activity during the period including a large 
amount of restructuring to position the Group for future growth, various corporate projects, and business 
transformation activity. 
 

** Fees payable in respect of the Group’s subsidiaries relates to the Dragon UK sub-group. The fees payable 

reflect fees for a full 12-month period ending 31 December 2024 and have not been pro-rated for disclosure 

purposes above. 
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7. Staff costs  

Staff cost during the period 21 November 2024 to 31 December 2024 was – 

 For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Wages and salaries 11,292 

Share based payment expense 838 

Social security costs 498 

Post-employment benefits -   

Defined contribution plans 351 

Termination benefits 2,149 

Other employee benefits 2,377 

Total employee benefit expense 17,505 

  

8. Remuneration of Key management Personnel 

 For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Key management Personnel’ emoluments 939 

Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 5 

Share-based payment  838 

 1,782 

Key management Personnel’ emoluments represent amounts receivable by the directors and other non-

director key management Personnel for qualifying services to the Group as a whole during the period. 

The highest paid director received remuneration of $886,558. In addition, the value of the Group’s 

contributions paid to a defined contribution pension scheme in respect of the highest paid director amounted 

to nil. 

 

9. Finance Income  

 For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Finance income -   

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost:   

Bank Deposits  46 

Total finance income 46 
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10. Other gains and losses 

 For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Net gain arising on financial assets measured at FVTPL1 3,227 

Net foreign exchange gain 3,623 

Tax credit incentives 25 

Sub-lease income 64 

Other Miscellaneous income 85 

Net other gains 7,024   
 

1. The amount represents a net gain/(loss) arising on an interest rate swap that economically hedges the fair value of 
long-term bank loan with variable interest rate, but for which hedge accounting is not applied. The net gain on the interest 
rate swap comprises an increase in fair value of $3.2 million of the swap. 
The foreign exchange gains arose on the unhedged monetary items denominated in foreign currencies. 
 
 

11. Finance cost  

 31 December 2024  

Finance costs:  

Interest on borrowings1 12,434 

Interest on lease liabilities                 43  

Total finance costs 12,477 

1 Interest on borrowings represents interest on financial liabilities held at amortised cost. 
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12. Income taxes 

Certain entities consolidated in these financial statements are subject to corporate taxes based on their 

results. The taxation charge which arises in the corporate entities included within these financial statements 

comprises: 

 31 December 2024 
($'000) 

Current tax:  

UK corporation tax on income for the period - 

Foreign tax 70 

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (406) 

Total current tax (credit) (336) 

  

Deferred tax (see note 24):  

Origination and reversal of timing differences (9,539) 

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (192) 

Total deferred tax (credit) (9,731) 

  

Total tax (credit) (all recognised in the Profit and Loss account) (10,067) 

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. 
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

 31 December 2024 
($'000) 

  

Loss for the period (42,489)  

Total tax (credit) (10,067) 

Loss excluding taxation (52,556) 

  

Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 25% (13,139) 

Earnings taxed in foreign jurisdictions 1,500 

Fixed asset differences 4 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,187  

Local taxes (net of federal benefit) (341) 

Remeasurement of deferred tax for charge in tax rates (8) 

Movement in deferred tax assets not recognised 332 

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (406) 

Adjustments in respect of prior periods - deferred tax (184) 

Deferred tax exchange difference arising on movement between 
opening and closing spot rates 

(52) 

Other permanent differences 40 

Total tax (credit) included in profit or loss (10,067) 
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13. Goodwill 

 31 December 2024 
($'000) 

Cost   

At 21 November 2024 - 

Recognised on acquisition of a subsidiary 2,183,677  

At 31 December 2024 2,183,677  

Accumulated impairment losses  

At 21 November 2024 - 

Impairment losses for the year - 

At 31 December 2024 - 

Carrying amount  

At 21 November 2024 - 

At 31 December 2024 2,183,677  

 

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to CGUs as follows: 

 31 December 2024 
($'000) 

Dragon HoldCo and subsidiaries 995,657  

Project Power and subsidiaries 1,188,020  

 2,183,677  

 

The group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill 

might be impaired. 
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14. Intangible assets  

$'000 Brand Customer relationships Technology and software Total 

Cost     

At 21 November 2024 - - - - 

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary  35,000 925,000 70,000 1,030,000 

Additions from internal development - - 1,108 1,108 

At 31 December 2024 35,000 925,000 71,108 1,031,108 

Amortisation and Impairment     

At 21 November 2024 - - - - 

Charge for the period 384 8,268 1,534 10,186 

At 31 December 2024 384 8,268 1,534 10,186 

Carrying value     

At 21 November 2024 - - - - 

At 31 December 2024 34,616 916,732 69,574  1,020,922 

Amortisation is recognised in administrative expenses. 
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Commercial in Confidence 

Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

(in USD '000s) 

15. Property, plant and equipment 

$'000  Freehold property Furniture and fixtures Computer equipment Buildings Total 

Cost   
 

   

At 21 November 2024  - - - - - 

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary   4,272 1,210 327 2,127 7,936 

Additions   - 224 80 - 304 

Exchange differences  (121) (43) (8) (177) (349) 

At 31 December 2024  4,151 1,391 399 1,950 7,891 

Depreciation and Impairment       

At 21 November 2024  - - - - - 

Exchange differences  - - - - - 

Charge for the period  11 73 34 54 172 

At 31 December 2024  11 73 34 54 172 

Carrying value       

At 21 November 2024  - - - - - 

At 31 December 2024  4,140 1,318 365 1,896 7,719 
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Commercial in Confidence 

Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

(in USD '000s) 

16. ROU Assets 

$'000    Motor vehicles Buildings Total 

Cost       

At 21 November 2024    - -  

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary     1,591 7,255 8,846 

Additions     - - - 

Exchange differences    (45) - (45) 

At 31 December 2024    1,546 7,255 8,801 

Depreciation and Impairment       

At 21 November 2024    - - - 

Exchange differences    - - - 

Charge for the period    46 290 336 

At 31 December 2024    46 290 336 

Carrying value       

At 21 November 2024    - - - 

At 31 December 2024    1,500 6,965 8,465 

 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

45 

17. Subsidiaries  

Details of the Company’s directly and indirectly held subsidiary undertakings are set out below: 

Legal entity 
Country of 

incorporation Principal activity 

% of voting 
right held by 

Group 

Viper MidCo Limited Guernsey Holding company 100% 

Viper Holdco Limited Guernsey Holding company 100% 

Viper Topco Inc. United States Holding company 100% 

Viper Midco, Inc. United States Holding company 100% 

Viper Bidco, Inc. United States Holding company 100% 

Dragon HoldCo (Guernsey) Limited Guernsey Holding company 100% 

Dragon UK HoldCo Limited United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Dragon UK MidCo 1 Limited United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Dragon UK MidCo 2 Limited United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Dragon UK BidCo Limited United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Alcumus Group Limited (note 1) United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Alcumus Midco Limited (note 1) United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Alcumus PIKco Topco Limited (note 1) United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Alcumus PIKco Midco Limited (note 1) United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Alcumus PIKco Bidco Limited (note 1) United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Alcumus Bidco Limited (note 2) United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Alcumus Holdings Limited United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

Alcumus Isoqar Limited United Kingdom Certification 
services 

100% 

Alcumus Safeworkforce Limited United Kingdom Accreditation 100% 

Alcumus Safecontractor Limited United Kingdom Accreditation 100% 

Alcumus SafeHR Limited United Kingdom Accreditation 100% 

Planet First Limited United Kingdom Environmental 
consulting  

100% 

The Planet Mark Limited United Kingdom Dormant 100% 

Alcumus SafeContractor Inc.  Canada Accreditation 100% 

Cognibox Inc. Canada Accreditation 100% 

Project Power Intermediate Holdings, LLC United States Holding company 100% 

Project Power Buyer, LLC United States Holding company 100% 
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Legal entity 
Country of 

incorporation Principal activity 

% of voting 
right held by 

Group 

Veriforce, LLC United States Cloud based 
subscription 

100% 

ComplyWorks Ltd. Canada Cloud based 
subscription 

100% 

Chaplin Acquistions UK Limited United Kingdom Holding company 100% 

CHAS 2013 Ltd. United Kingdom 
Cloud based 
subscription 

100% 

Model Y Certification Limited United Kingdom Accreditation 100% 

CHAS Australia PTY Limited Australia 
Cloud based 
subscription 

100% 

Complyworks Africa Africa 
Cloud based 
subscription 

85% 

Ariscu  Canada 
Cloud based 
subscription 

100% 

Green Gain Holdings PTY Limited South Africa Holding company 100% 

Green Gain Africa PTY Limited South Africa 
Cloud based 
subscription 

100% 

Green Gain Consulting Pty Limited South Africa Consulting 100% 

Procuredox Canada Cloud based 
subscription 

13% 

 
Note 1 - These companies were dissolved via voluntary strike-off on 15 April 2025. 
 
Note 2 - An application to strike the company off the register was made on 13 January 2025. 
 

18. Financial Instruments  

Financial risk policies and strategies 

The main risks identified and managed by the Group relating to its business operations are as follows: 

• Market risk (mainly interest rate risk): the risk of changes in the interest rates;  

• Credit risk: possibility of default of a counterparty or deterioration in its credit rating;  

• Liquidity risk: the risk of insufficiency of the Group’s financial resources and the risk of not being able to 

meet its payment commitments; and 

• Currency risk: the risk related to the fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates.  
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Financial instruments 

The principal financial instruments held, other than derivative financial instruments are trade and other 

receivables, cash and bank balances, trade and other payables and borrowings. The table below summarises 

such financial assets and liabilities by category. Such instruments give rise to liquidity, credit, interest rate 

and foreign currency risks. Information about these risks and how they are managed is set out on the following 

pages. The carrying amounts of the financial instruments are as follows:  

$'000 

Carrying value  

Assets at 
amortised 

cost 

 

FVTPL 

 

FVTOCI 

 
Liabilities at 

amortised cost Fair Value 

Assets              

Trade receivables  14,418  -  -  - 14,418 

Other receivables 7,408  -  -  - 7,408 

Cash and bank balances 87,305  -  -  - 87,305 

Derivative financial 
instruments 

-  3,227  -  - 3,227 

Current tax receivable 5,122  -  -  - 5,122 

Liabilities         

Trade payables  -  -  -  3,528 3,528 

Other payables -  -  -  21,773 21,773 

Provisions -  -  -  72 72 

Loans and borrowings -  -  -  1,149,655 1,149,655 

Other non-current liabilities -  -  -  86 86 

Lease liabilities -  -  -  10,544 10,544 

 

Fair value measurement 

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The 

following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined - 

Financial assets/ 
Financial liabilities Valuation techniques and key inputs 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 

Relationship 
and sensitivity 

of unobservable 
inputs to FV 

Interest rate swap 
instrument 

Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are 
estimated based on expected future interest rates 
(derived from observable yield curves and adjusted 
for counterparty credit risk and liquidity), expected 
interest rate volatility (based on historical data and 
current market conditions)  

N/A N/A 

 

  



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

48 

Market Risk (Interest rate risk) 

This risk relates to unforeseeable changes in interest rates that could generate higher financial charges for 

the Group. The Group is partly funded by third party bank debt and therefore has exposure to interest rate risk, 

which has been exacerbated by the recent turbulence in the macroeconomic environment.  

Interest rate risk is mitigated through the interest rate swap instrument which swaps the variable interest rate 

with a fixed interest rate payable on the covered debt. The interest rate swap instrument was taken in 

December 2024 and effective from 21 November 2024 to 21 November 2027.  

As of 31 December 2024, the fair value of the interest rate cap was $3.2 million. The change in fair value of 

the interest rate cap during the period 21 November 2024 to 31 December 2024 resulted in a gain of $3.2 

million which has been recognised as other gains and losses in the Statement of profit and loss. 

Credit risk 

The Group exposure to credit risk on its trade receivables is low as the Group’s trade receivables are spread 

across a large volume of customers with no single customer representing a material portion of the total 

receivables balance. This diversification mitigates the impact of potential defaults. For some services, the 

Group invoices and collects revenue in advance, eliminating credit risk for those transactions. For other 

services where payment is not collected in advance, credit risk exists from the time the service is rendered 

until payment is received. The Group assesses credit risk qualitatively, considering factors such as the 

counterparty's payment history and financial condition. 

The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances, cash and trade and other receivables which 

represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. The following table is a 

summary of the group's maximum exposure to credit risk: 

$'000 31 December 2024 

Total trade and other receivables 21,826 

Cash and cash equivalents 87,305 

Total 109,131 

 

Liquidity risk  

To maintain liquidity and to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and future 

developments, the Group operates a centralised treasury function, including intercompany cash pooling and 

the provision of monthly cashflow reports and rolling 12-month forward forecasts to the Board.  

The Group currently has a healthy cash balance. Were it to be needed, the Revolving Credit Facility provides 

further mitigation from liquidity risk. 

Contractual maturity 

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities with regard 

to the repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the 

financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the group can be required to pay. The tables include 

both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest rate flows are floating, the undiscounted 

amount is derived from interest rate curves at the end of the reporting period. 
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31 December 2024 Gross 
Contractual 
cash flows 

Within one 
year 2-5 years 

More than 
5 years 

Carrying 
value $’000 

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities      

Accruals 14,917 14,917 - - 14,917 

Trade payables 3,528 3,528 - - 3,528 

Other payables 4,667 4,667 - - 4,667 

Lease liabilities 10,544 3,123 6,561 860 10,544 

Loans and borrowings 1,894,928 129,528 472,573 1,292,827 1,149,655 

Other non-current liabilities 86 86 - - 86 

Total 1,928,670 155,849 479,134 1,293,687 1,183,397 

 

Foreign currency risk 

59.7% of Group’s revenue is denominated and collected in non-USD currency, the majority of which is in Pound 

Sterling. To mitigate the risk, Group elected to draw down its RCF facilities under the Credit agreement in 

Pound Sterling denomination. This has provided a natural hedge against exchange rate risk, as a fall in the 

value of the Pound Sterling will also reduce the amount borrowed when it is converted back to USD. 

The following table is a summary of the Group’s net foreign currency-denominated monetary assets/ 

(liabilities): 

$'000 31 December 2024 

Pound Sterling (423,524) 

Canadian Dollar (317)  

Total (423,841) 

 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

Presented below is the sensitivity of the Group’s foreign currency exposure to reasonably possible changes 

in foreign currency rates based on the Group’s historical experience and the current economic outlook. The 

sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency-denominated monetary items (including 

derivative instruments) in Pound Sterling, Euros and Canadian dollars. 

If the rates moved by +/- 10% the effect on loss for the year would be +/- $42.4 million.  
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19. Contract costs  

$’000 31 December 2024 

Costs to obtain contracts  

Current 389  

Non-Current 546 

Total  935 

Contract costs mainly consist of sales commissions that are incremental commission fee paid to 

intermediaries as a result of obtaining contracts with customers. The sales commission are the only cost that 

the Group would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. Whilst the Group incurs other costs 

that are necessary to facilitate a sale, those costs would have been incurred even if the customer decided not 

to execute the contract and therefore have not been capitalised. 

The Group amortizes the costs incurred on initial contracts on a straight-line basis over a period of benefit 

determined to be approximately four years. The period of benefit is determined based on a review of customer 

churn rates and technological lifecycles of the underlying product offerings. All deferred contract costs on 

renewal contracts are amortized on a straight-line basis over the applicable renewal period. Additionally, the 

Group exercises the practical expedient to expense commissions on arrangements in which the amortisation 

period is expected to be one year or less.  

From 21 November 2024 through 31 December 2024, amortisation amounting to $41,561 was recognised as 

part of cost of sales in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. There was no impairment loss in relation 

to the costs capitalised. 

20. Leases (group as a lessee) 

The group leases several assets including real estate, motor vehicles and IT equipment (including postage 

machines, copiers and printers). The lease term is between is 1 to 10 years. 

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is presented in note 25. 

$’000 

For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Amounts recognised in profit and loss  

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 337 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 43 

Expense relating to short-term leases 6 

Expense relating to leases of low value assets 6 

Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the 
measurement of the lease liability 

- 

Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets 64 

The Group applies the short-term lease and leases of low-value assets recognition exemptions for the below 

IT equipment –  

• Leases with a lease term of 12 months or less, including leases for postage machines and copiers; 
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• Leases of printers, which are considered low-value assets (valued at US$5,000 or less). 

The Group recognises lease payments associated with these leases as an operating expense on a straight-

line basis over the lease term. 

At 31 December 2024, the group is committed to $89,878 for short-term leases. 

Some of the real estate leases in which the Group is the lessee contain variable lease payments that consist 

of common area maintenance and property taxes. Variable lease payments depend on required repairs and 

maintenance on the leased property, and property tax valuations. The breakdown of these lease payments is 

as follows–  

$’000 

For the period between 
21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 

Fixed payments 209 

Variable payments 33 

Total payments 242 

 

Overall, the variable payments constitute up to 14% per cent of the group’s entire lease payments. The group 

expects this ratio to remain constant in future years.  

The leases arrangements do not contain any material restrictive restricted covenants or residual value 

guarantees.  

21. Trade receivables  

$'000 31 December 2024 

Trade receivables 16,411 

Less: Loss allowance (1,993) 

Net Trade Receivables 14,418 

The carrying amount of the Trade receivables in the table above approximates to their fair value. 

As at 21 November 2024, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to $29,893 (net of loss 

allowance). 
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Included in the group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $10,419,000 which 

were past due at the reporting date. Ageing of past but not impaired trade receivables are as follows: 

$'000 31 December 2024 

0-30 days 2,143 

31-60 days 1,651 

61-120 days 3,595 

More than 120 days 3,030 

  10,419 

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in financial 

difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g., when the debtor has been placed under liquidation 

or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. In the current period, the Group recognised a loss allowance 

expense of $180,527.  

22. Other receivables (Including contract assets) 

$'000 31 December 2024 

Current   

Contract assets (accrued and unbilled income)  2,631 

Prepayments  5,004 

Security deposits 4,620 

Total 12,255 

Non-current  

Contract cost capitalised 935 

Prepayments  22 

Other receivables 634 

Total 1,591 

The carrying amount of the financial assets in the table above approximates to their fair value. 
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23. Borrowings  

The borrowings of the Group can be analysed as follows: 

$'000 31 December 2024 

Secured borrowings at amortised cost   

Term loans 1,149,655 

Total 1,149,655 

Current 19,931 

Non-current 1,129,724 

Total 1,149,655 

On 21 November 2024, the Group entered into a credit agreement that provides for the term loans and 

revolving credit facility as described below – 

Term loans denominated in USD and GBP-  

$792 million term loan, with interest charged at a variable rate based on Base rate or SOFR plus a margin 

based on first lien leverage ratio (calculated in accordance with credit agreement) which ranges from 3.5%-

5%, payable quarterly in arrears. The loan is repayable in quarterly instalments of principal and interest over a 

period of seven years from the agreement date.  

£290 million term loan, with interest charged at a variable rate based on SONIA plus a margin based on first 

lien leverage ratio (calculated in accordance with credit agreement) which ranges from 3.5%-5%, payable 

quarterly in arrears. The loan is repayable in quarterly instalments of principal and interest over a period of 

seven years from the agreement date. 

$100 million delayed draw term loan, with interest charged at a variable rate based on Base rate or SOFR plus 

a margin based on first lien leverage ratio (calculated in accordance with credit agreement) which ranges 

from 3.5%-5%, payable quarterly in arrears. The delayed draw term loan is repayable in quarterly instalments 

of principal and interest over a period of seven years from the agreement date. There is no amount 

outstanding as at 31 December 2024 under delayed draw term loan. 

Revolving credit facility (RCF) 

USD 80 million RCF, with interest charged at a variable rate based on SONIA, SOFR, or the Eurocurrency Rate, 

depending on the currency in which the facility is drawn, plus a margin based on first lien leverage ratio 

(calculated in accordance with credit agreement) which ranges from 3.5%-5%. Interest is payable quarterly in 

arrears. The RCF is available for a period of seven years from the agreement date and is repayable in full at 

maturity. 

The term loans and RCF facility subject to the credit agreement are subject to a financial covenant which is 

tested quarterly at end of March, June, September and December each year and other customary non-financial 

covenants. The financial covenant measures the group’s First Lien Leverage Ratio which should not be greater 

than 13.00:1.00. As at the issuance date of these financial statements no covenants were breached.   
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24. Deferred tax 

The following is the deferred tax movement during the current reporting period. 

$’000 31 December 2024 

At 21 November 2024 (44,917) 

Acquired and disposed of through business combinations (146,464) 

Other movement 257 

Recognised in the Profit and Loss Account for the period (note 12) 9,731 

At 31 December 2024 (181,393) 

 

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group during the current 

reporting period. 

$’000 31 December 2024 

Property, plant and equipment - 

Unused tax losses 14,042 

Corporate interest restriction 29,424 

Short term timing differences 2,432 

Losses and other deductions 577 

Total deferred tax assets 46,475 

Business combinations (217,965) 

Prior Intangible Assets/(Liabilities) (8,887) 

Fixed asset timing differences (858) 

Other (158) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (227,868) 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 

and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. The following is the analysis 

of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes: 

$'000 31 December 2024 

Deferred tax liabilities 181,393 

Deferred tax assets - 

Total 181,393 
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At 31 December 2024, the Group has nil unused tax losses for offset against future profits. A deferred tax 

asset has been recognised in respect of $nil million of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised 

in respect of the remaining $4.7million as it is not considered probable that there will be future taxable profits 

available.  

 

25. Leases liabilities  

Maturity analysis of contractual undiscounted cash flows is as follows: 

$'000 31 December 2024 

Less than one year  3,123 

One to five years  6,561 

More than five years 860 

Total 10,544 

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regards to its lease liabilities. 

Lease liabilities included in the Statement of Financial Position: 

$'000 31 December 2024 

Current 3,123 

Non-current 7,421 

Total 10,544 

  

26. Trade and other payables 

$'000 31 December 2024 

Trade payables 3,528 

Other taxation and social security 1,041 

Sales tax payables 1,148 

Other payables 4,667 

Accruals  14,917 

Total 25,301 

Non-current  

Other payables 86 

Total 86 

The carrying amount of the financial liabilities in the table above approximates their fair value. 
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27. Share capital 

Issued share capital 

 Number 
Nominal value 

$’000 

Issued and fully paid up:    

Issued during the year:   

A1 shares of $0.001 each  185,487,562  185 

A2 shares of $0.001 each  4,422,220  5 

At 31 December 2024  189,909,782  190 

 
The company has two classes of ordinary shares, class A-1 and A-2, none of these carry any right to fixed 
income. Class A-2 shares do not carry voting rights. 

 

28. Foreign exchange translation reserve 

$'000 31 December 2024 

Balance as at 21 November 2024 - 

Exchange differences on translating the net assets of foreign operations 19,566 

Balance as at 31 December 2024 19,566 

  

29. Acquisition of subsidiaries 

Acquisition of Dragon HoldCo  

On 21 November 2024, the Company acquired 100 per cent of the issued share capital of Dragon HoldCo, 

obtaining control of it and its subsidiaries. Dragon HoldCo, trading as Alcumus, is a leading provider of supply 

chain compliance and business certification services, supported by advanced technology. The acquisition 

qualifies as a business as defined in IFRS 3.   

The primary reason for the business combination is the acquisition of a new portfolio company for the 

controlling parties, Apax funds X and XI, with the purpose to grow the Group’s operations in new and existing 

markets. 
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The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as set out 

in the table below. 

$’000 Fair value 

Intangible assets 250,000  

Property, plant and equipment 6,493 

Right-of-use assets 5,125 

Trade and other receivables 26,082 

Cash and bank balances 28,542 

Lease liabilities (5,239) 

Other non-current liabilities (894) 

Trade and other payables (24,140) 

Deferred tax liability (8,863) 

Provisions (318) 

Deferred Income (17,987) 

Tax payable 1,902 

Identifiable net assets acquired 260,703  

Goodwill 946,502  

Total consideration  

Satisfied by:  

Cash 54,210 

Equity securities 816,642 

Repayment of liability 336,353 

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:  

Cash consideration 390,562 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired (28,542) 

Total cash outflow 362,020 

None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 

The fair value of the 79.7 million class A1 and 2 million class A-2 ordinary shares issued as part of the 

consideration paid for acquisition of Dragon Holdco ($816.64 million) was determined on the basis of 

discounted cash flow method.  

Dragon HoldCo and its subsidiaries contributed $10.8 million revenue and $8.8 million of loss to the Group’s 

consolidated statement of total comprehensive income for the reporting period since the date of acquisition. 
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Acquisition of Project Power 

On 21 November 2024, through Viper Bidco, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary, the Company acquired 100 per 

cent of the issued share capital of Project Power, obtaining control of it and its subsidiaries. Project Power, 

trading as Veriforce, ComplyWorks, and CHAS 2013 Ltd, provides an online platform for contractors and 

operators to report and track safety data and delivers standardized safety and skills training across various 

industries, including oil and gas. The acquisition qualifies as a business as defined in IFRS 3.   

The primary reason for the business combination is the acquisition of a new portfolio company for the 

controlling parties, Apax funds X and XI, with the purpose to grow the Group’s operations in new and existing 

markets. 

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as set out 

in the table below. 

$’000 Fair value 

Intangible assets 780,000 

Property, plant and equipment 1,443 

Right-of-use assets 3,721 

Trade and other receivables 19,326 

Cash and bank balances 29,489 

Lease liabilities (5,129) 

Provisions (72) 

Other non-current liabilities (89) 

Deferred tax liability (36,059) 

Trade and other payables (11,400) 

Deferred Income (94,939) 

Identifiable net assets acquired 686,291 

Goodwill 1,090,711 

Total consideration  

Satisfied by:  

Cash 1,348,843 

Equity securities  23,802 

Repayment of external debt  404,360 

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:  

Cash consideration 1,753,203 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired 29,489 

Total cash outflow 1,723,714 

None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 
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The fair value of 2.4million class A2 ordinary shares issued as part of the consideration paid for acquisition 

of Project Power ($23.8 million) was determined on the basis of Discounted cash flow method. 

Acquisition-related costs included in Administration expenses amount to $35.1 million. 

Project Power and its subsidiaries contributed $17.8 million revenue and $12.5 million of profit to the Group’s 

consolidated statement of total comprehensive income for the period since the date of acquisition. 

If the acquisition of Dragon HoldCo and Project Power had been completed on the first day of the financial 

year, Group’s revenues for the annual reporting period would have been $262 million and Group loss would 

have been $204 million. 

 

30. Defined Contribution plans 

The Group operates two separate defined contribution plans – 

• The Dragon Holdco subgroup operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all eligible employees 

employed by its subsidiaries. The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the Group in funds 

under the control of trustees. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions 

if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the 

current and prior periods. The Group recognises its contributions to the plan as an expense in the income 

statement when they are due. The Group’s contributions for the period 21 November 2024 to 31 December 

2024 was $ 233,769. 

• The Group's Project Power subgroup maintains a contributory profit-sharing plan under 401(k) 

arrangements for its eligible employees. The plan allows employees to make annual contributions of up 

to 100% of an employee's contribution up to 4% of included compensation and may also make profit-

sharing contributions that is fully vested at 5 years of service. The group recognizes its contributions to 

the 401(k) plan as an expense when due. The Group’s contributions for the period 21 November 2024 to 

31 December 2024 was $ 117,215. 

 

31. Share-based payments 

The Group operates an equity settled share based incentive plan for key employees with service and 

performance vesting conditions. On November 21, 2024, 7,417,022 share incentive units of Viper Aggregator 

Co. Limited were granted. These share awards have a total fair value of $20,739,531. The Group engaged third 

party valuation specialists to provide a fair value for the awards using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The 

associate charge recognised during the period is $838,280. 

 

32. Related Party notes  

Group companies 

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and are not 

disclosed in this note.  

Key management personnel  

Remuneration paid to the Directors and other key management personnel during the period has been 

disclosed in note 8.  
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Related entities 

During the period, the Group incurred $38,193 of expenditure with Uniply, a company that a related party has 

a controlling interest.  

During the period, Apax fund XI, the ultimate controlling party of the Group incurred acquisition-related costs 

amounting to $3,247,282 on behalf of the Group. This amount is recognised as expense during the period. As 

at 31 December 2024, the balance payable to Apax fund XI in respect of these costs is $2,616,834. 

 

33. Events after the reporting period 

Acquisition of Onyx One 

In February 2025, the Group acquired 100% per cent of the issued share capital of Onyx One for a purchase 

consideration of ~$10 million. The acquisition accounting has not been completed as of the date of approving 

these financial statements and therefore no further disclosures have been included within the financial 

statements for the period ended 31 December 2024. The primary reason for the business combination is the 

acquisition of a new portfolio company for the controlling parties, Apax funds X and XI, with the purpose to 

grow the Group’s operations in new and existing markets. 

Additional term loan commitments 

In September 2025, the Group entered into the First Amendment to the Credit Agreement which provided the 

company with an additional $250 million in delayed draw term loan commitments.   

 

34. Approval of financial statements  

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 September 

2025. 

 

35.  Ultimate Controlling Party 

At 31 December 2024, Viper Aggregator Co. Limited was the immediate parent of the Group. As at the date of 

approval of these financial statements, the ultimate controlling party of the Group is Apax funds X and XI, 

acting collectively. 


